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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I would like to

          3  welcome to everybody on this session of the Council

          4  Committee on Finance.

          5                 I would be everybody's indulgence, I

          6  really have an atrocious cold and I don't feel up to

          7  just speaking above the volume of conversation that

          8  usually prevails, so if you would just give us a

          9  level of cooperation we will expeditiously attempt

         10  to deal with all the business required to be dealt

         11  with today.

         12                 One of the items on the agenda today

         13  is the changes in the commercial rent tax. With your

         14  permission I would like to start by having testimony

         15  on the issue.

         16                 First Larian, do you want to? Are you

         17  going to testify?

         18                 DR. ANGELO: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, Dr.

         20  Angelo. Do you have any staff that you want to join

         21  you? Nadine? Where is Nadine?

         22                 All right, would you please each

         23  identify yourselves.

         24                 DR. ANGELO: Larian Angelo, Council

         25  Finance Division.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 MS. FELTON: Nadine Felton, Finance

          3  Division.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Nadine. Good

          5  morning, both of you.

          6                 MS. FELTON: Good morning.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, now,

          8  the commercial rent tax is applicable only in

          9  certain geographical areas of Manhattan; is that

         10  correct?

         11                 DR. ANGELO: That's correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And that is the

         13  area south of 96th?

         14                 DR. ANGELO: South of 96th Street,

         15  yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And the measure

         17  before us today does provide what?

         18                 DR. ANGELO: It would raise the

         19  threshold for the exemption in the base rent.

         20                 Currently, if a business pays a

         21  commercial rent of less than $100,000 a year, they

         22  are exempt from paying the commercial rent tax, this

         23  bill would raise that threshold from $100,000 to

         24  $150,000.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So it would
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          2  actually increase the threshold by 50 percent; is

          3  that correct?

          4                 DR. ANGELO: That's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right.

          6                 DR. ANGELO: It will drop 3,300 people

          7  from the tax -- 3,300 businesses from the tax.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thirty-three

          9  hundred businesses from the tax. What is the fiscal

         10  impact that that will have on us?

         11                 DR. ANGELO: When fully implemented

         12  for a full year, it will be $16 million loss of

         13  revenue and for the half year it will be 8 million.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So this

         15  legislation would go into effect immediately?

         16                 DR. ANGELO: That's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Nadine, do you

         18  have anything you would like to add to this?

         19                 DR. ANGELO: No, that's fine.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right.

         21                 Just by way of summary then, this

         22  amends the commercial rent tax regulations,

         23  basically increase the exemption, and the only place

         24  in the City where the commercial rent tax is still

         25  collected, which is the area south of 96th Street in
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          2  Manhattan, and it increases the exemption from

          3  $100,000 in rent to $150,000 in rent, and to the

          4  best of my recollection, you said that about 3,300

          5  commercial establishments will be affected by this

          6  change?

          7                 DR. ANGELO: That's correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And the impact on

          9  an annual basis is about $16 million a year?

         10                 DR. ANGELO: Sixteen-million, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right.

         12                 Are there any questions?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sure, Ms.

         15  Eldridge.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Just go over

         17  the boundaries for me.

         18                 This is for paying rent $150,000, and

         19  does that now go south of 96th Street?

         20                 DR. ANGELO: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Currently the

         22  current regulation is that --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: One-hundred

         24  thousand.

         25                 DR. ANGELO: Right, annual rent is
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          2  $100,000.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So now if you pay

          4  less under this law, you pay less than $150,000 a

          5  year, you don't have to pay the commercial rent tax.

          6                 DR. ANGELO: There is one other

          7  provision, too, and that is that there is a sliding

          8  scale of credit for commercial rents, tenants with

          9  commercial rents between 150 and 190,000, so they

         10  will get some break on the tax.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, the

         12  commercial rent tax applies to businesses only south

         13  of 96th Street?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes.

         15                 DR. ANGELO: That's correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is accurate,

         17  Ronnie.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And north of

         19  what?

         20                 DR. ANGELO: North of nothing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: No, it's just in

         22  Manhattan, Battery to 96th.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And it

         24  includes Battery Park?

         25                 DR. ANGELO: It's only commercial
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          2  rent.

          3                 MS. FELTON: Yes, commercial, that's

          4  correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, any other

          6  questions?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I just

          8  always have to make a statement that you have to

          9  know that the price of the rents are totally out of

         10  sight, and that a lot of these companies, small

         11  groceries and small stores south of 96th Street are

         12  now having their rents raised to over 20,000 a

         13  month, so that is not really helping us, unless they

         14  take advantage of a sliding scale, because we have

         15  no way of doing anything about rents, the rents are

         16  escalating at a terrible pace.

         17                 DR. ANGELO: This raising the

         18  threshold will pull a few supermarkets into the

         19  exempt category and some of the smaller food

         20  retailers.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Well, the

         22  new thing that we have now, we no longer have the

         23  Korean food markets, as many as we do, we now have

         24  nail salons and we have nail salons on every block

         25  because for some reason they come in and they can
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          2  spend $20,000 a month, and it's a big problem.

          3                 Thank you. I don't like having a

          4  storekeeper, a small storekeeper having to pay

          5  $20,000 in rent.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I think that,

          7  Ronnie, Ms. Eldridge, you are absolutely right. I

          8  think that is increasingly more difficult for the

          9  small businesses, the mom and pop businesses who

         10  exist not only in Manhattan, particularly in

         11  Manhattan but in some of the other parts of this

         12  City as well.

         13                 I know in my community shopping malls

         14  have totally decimated the small businesses.

         15                 Are there any other questions on

         16  this?

         17                 Okay, thank you very much.

         18                 I have been asked as to whether or

         19  not we can experience a statement from the New York

         20  City Partnership.

         21                 Mr. McMahon, are you here?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Good morning, Mr.

         23  McMahon, would you identify yourself and your

         24  position?

         25                 MR. McMAHON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 My name is Thomas McMahon. I work for

          3  the New York City Partnership, Chamber of Commerce,

          4  and I have a statement that I will submit for the

          5  record, but I would briefly like to summarize it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Please do, and

          7  thank you for summarizing.

          8                 MR. McMAHON: I would like to make a

          9  couple of points.

         10                 I think first and foremost the

         11  Partnership, and the business community in general,

         12  applauds the City Council for continuing to advance

         13  the elimination of the commercial rent tax. I mean,

         14  over time we know that that initiative started in

         15  this body, with the phase-out of the tax in the

         16  outerboroughs it made a significant difference, and

         17  with the reduction that has been experienced.

         18                 Our only concern, and our key

         19  recommendation, is that the incremental approach

         20  that we have been seeing, especially over the last

         21  two years, is cause for concern.

         22                 The commercial rent tax is probably

         23  one of the most obnoxious taxes that the City has.

         24  It is unique to New York City and the country, it is

         25  a tax on rent, essentially double taxation, and in
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          2  your wisdom and in a very aggressive way, you have

          3  phased that out across the City all but for the

          4  central business district.

          5                 We firmly believe that the future of

          6  the central business district is key to the future

          7  of the economy of the City and in fact the economy

          8  of the entire region. I mean, there are plenty of

          9  analysis which show that as a central business

         10  district grows, the entire region grows, and that in

         11  making this point what we are asking for is that you

         12  consider taking the step now to phase out the tax in

         13  its entirety over time.

         14                 We believe there is no reason not to

         15  do that. The economy of the City right now can

         16  support it. I think it is important for the --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Tom, let me

         18  understand this. If you would like us to enact

         19  legislation now that will result in a phase-out of

         20  the total tax?

         21                 MR. McMAHON: Right. And the important

         22  point here is, I think it is an important legacy

         23  here for this institution, but in addition it is

         24  preparing the City not for what currently exists,

         25  but really for the next economic cycle.
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          2                 Businesses will make decisions on a

          3  level of certainty as they look forward, and the

          4  signal that you send, both from a dollar perspective

          5  and from a public policy perspective on rational

          6  taxation, is an important one, and we would urge you

          7  to take that step as quickly as possible in a

          8  responsible way.

          9                 Perhaps the City can afford the

         10  entire elimination of a tax right now, but certainly

         11  it should be codified in statute by this body, and

         12  we would urge you to do it at this time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I think you raise

         14  some very interesting points, and it is certainly

         15  something for us to consider.

         16                 I recently attended a session and

         17  several developers were talking and Bruce Radner

         18  made the observation that for the first time the

         19  City is literally becoming competitive with New

         20  Jersey and Pennsylvania because of incentives and

         21  tax policy that have been enacted. So, it would

         22  appear that an aggressive stand particularly in this

         23  type of tax is probably something worth considering.

         24                 I tend to agree with you and that is

         25  something we have to definitely look at.
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          2                 MR. McMAHON: That's right. And the

          3  budget has a cycle that you go through, but we think

          4  this is an important decision and signal to send now

          5  to lock it in for future budgets.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Are there any

          7  questions?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: May I just

          9  ask a question?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes, Ms.

         11  Eldridge.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: In your

         13  experience with the businesses in New York or

         14  especially in Manhattan, how much and how many

         15  commercial buildings is the real estate property tax

         16  for commercial passed on to the tenants?

         17                 MR. McMAHON: Almost all cases.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: This is

         19  something that I didn't realize until --

         20                 MR. McMAHON: And there is a provision

         21  for that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, when we

         23  are always giving the extra burden to the commercial

         24  class, we are in effect giving it to the tenants

         25  that we also charge a commercial rent tax to. It has
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          2  never been brought -- I don't know if you are

          3  listening, Mr. Chairman, but I realize now that I

          4  have to pay, I have to pay $3,500 a month for my

          5  district office, and in addition to that I just got

          6  assessed for the real estate tax increase, and it is

          7  a very, that's a very high and burdensome increase

          8  for us, and I am sure for other people, but I didn't

          9  realize that the commercial property tax gets that

         10  passed on to commercial tenants.

         11                 So, I just wanted to support --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It gets passed on

         13  if that is what the least provides.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But most of

         15  the leases say that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes, it's a

         17  question of agreement.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, another

         19  reason to support phasing out the commercial rent

         20  tax since we are taxing these organizations twice.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Are there any

         23  other questions?

         24                 Sheldon, did you have a question? Mr.

         25  Leffler?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, thank

          4  you very much, Tom. I appreciate the Partnership's

          5  involvement.

          6                 Okay, ladies and gentlemen, we are

          7  just waiting for a couple of documents to come from

          8  OMB on the budget mod, so if you will bear with us a

          9  few moments we will be able to deal with this very,

         10  very quickly.

         11                 Pending the receipt of the documents,

         12  if anybody would like to entertain? Sing, dance?

         13  Nothing. Archie, do you want to tell jokes while we

         14  kill time for ten minutes?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: I will pass,

         16  Mr. Chairman.

         17                 (Recess taken.)

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Have we

         19  distributed the revenue mod? Anybody?

         20                 All right, so you have in front of

         21  you -- what is the revenue mod number?

         22                 DR. ANGELO: Four.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, MN4 is

         24  the revenue mod.

         25                 Larian, do you want to testify on
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          2  this, please?

          3                 Would you identify yourself?

          4                 DR. ANGELO: Larian Angelo, City

          5  Council Finance Division.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Doctor.

          7                 DR. ANGELO: Yes, doctor, thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: People, listen to

          9  me, please, this is quite important.

         10                 There are three modifications before

         11  us today, one is an Expense Budget modification and

         12  one is a capital budget modification, and one is a

         13  revenue budget modification, a revenue modification

         14  in order to pay for it. So, it is important that you

         15  draw near and give your attention because you should

         16  know how it is anticipated that these modifications

         17  will be paid, okay?

         18                 So, Larian, do you want to go into

         19  this?

         20                 DR. ANGELO: This is a preconsidered

         21  budget modification MN4 for Fiscal 2001. It will

         22  recognize an additional $803 million in new

         23  revenues. Of that $803 million, $422 million come

         24  from additional unanticipated tax revenues --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am sorry, I
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          2  didn't hear you.

          3                 DR. ANGELO: Four-hundred twenty-two

          4  million comes from unanticipated additional tax

          5  revenues in collections. There is an additional $66

          6  million in miscellaneous revenues.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, what do you

          8  mean miscellaneous revenues?

          9                 DR. ANGELO: Miscellaneous revenues

         10  are all non-tax revenues, so, for example, it is

         11  income for the City from the cable franchise, it's a

         12  whole host of ups and downs which total an

         13  additional $66 million.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And what is the

         15  balance?

         16                 DR. ANGELO: Sixty-six million.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: No, no. It's 422,

         18  66 --

         19                 DR. ANGELO: And the Mayor is

         20  acknowledging increased revenues from the loss of

         21  the tax package in Albany, and from the scaling back

         22  of the personal income tax surcharge reduction,

         23  equal to $315 million.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: 315?

         25                 DR. ANGELO: Yes, 315.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

          3                 All right, now, does everybody

          4  understand there are three components to making up

          5  this revenue modification of 803 million; number

          6  one, 422 million, which the Mayor has determined

          7  that there will be increased tax revenues. What are

          8  the taxes that this anticipation comes from?

          9                 DR. ANGELO: Basically all of the

         10  taxes are performing very well, because the economy

         11  is still very strong in New York City.

         12                 The increases are focused on the

         13  income based taxes, either business income or

         14  personal income. The personal income tax will

         15  increase by 175 million, the general corporation tax

         16  will increase by 110 million. We are also seeing an

         17  increase in the sales tax revenue of 92 million,

         18  which is a function of people spending the money

         19  they make.

         20                 The unincorporated business tax is

         21  also up 20 million.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, and

         23  that approximates 422, right?

         24                 All right, so that is one component.

         25  The other component is miscellaneous additional
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          2  revenues of 66 million, such as --

          3                 DR. ANGELO: Increased income from the

          4  cable franchise, a sheriff mileage management fee

          5  increase, additional hotel revenues, so there is a

          6  whole variety of ups and downs, as is usually the

          7  case with miscellaneous revenues.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And, finally, the

          9  Mayor acknowledges that the failure on the part of

         10  the State Legislature to permit us to reduce certain

         11  taxes has resulted in additional revenues because if

         12  we can't reduce the taxes we still have the money --

         13                 DR. ANGELO: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is 315

         15  million, and part of that was the full removal of

         16  the personal income tax surcharge, as opposed to the

         17  phased-in aspect?

         18                 DR. ANGELO: Correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And what else is

         20  involved?

         21                 DR. ANGELO: Included in the omnibus

         22  bill that the state did not pass was a reduction --

         23  was child care tax credit, the earned income tax

         24  credit, the credit for seniors who rent their

         25  apartments. There was also a bill to help owners of
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          2  S Corp avoid double taxation. And there was the

          3  elimination of the $2 fee on hotel rooms.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, now, for

          5  further detail you can look at Exhibit B on MN4; is

          6  that correct, Larian?

          7                 DR. ANGELO: That's correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, are

          9  there any questions?

         10                 Do you have a question, Ronnie?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: The --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ronnie, I am glad

         13  you are here this morning.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Well, I am

         15  taking up time.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: No, we don't need

         17  to take time up anymore.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Oh, all

         19  right.

         20                 The Coliseum sale adjustment, would

         21  you explain the Coliseum sale financing? Or is that

         22  unfair to ask?

         23                 DR. ANGELO: My understanding is there

         24  was a downward adjustment reflecting a sale of 339

         25  million, which was a bit lower I think than what
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          2  they anticipated, but I have to get back to you with

          3  more detail.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I would

          5  appreciate it. And also when it was made, the sale,

          6  and when the money was transferred or whatever?

          7                 DR. ANGELO: It is being transferred

          8  into the budget with this modification.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Right, but I

         10  just wanted to know when.

         11                 DR. ANGELO: I will have to get back

         12  to you with the exact sale date.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Okay, thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any other

         16  questions?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: It was said

         18  that through September or October, the MTA still

         19  owned the property.

         20                 DR. ANGELO: I will have to get back.

         21  I don't have the exact sale date.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ronnie, are you

         24  finished?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

          3                 Any other questions?

          4                 Okay, thank you very much.

          5                 DR. ANGELO: Thank you.

          6                 All right, we are going to do the

          7  Capital Budget modification now and also the Expense

          8  Budget modification.

          9                 All right, ladies and gentlemen, for

         10  those of you who covet the opportunity to be

         11  informed, the Capital Budget modification is this

         12  one, MN3 is the Expense Budget modification,

         13  together with the Expense Budget adjustments, which

         14  is attached.

         15                 Amy, do you want to testify on

         16  Capital? And who is testifying on Expense? Cheech,

         17  a/k/a Mr. Tramontano. You might as well do it

         18  together. They are going to testify together, and

         19  then you can ask questions as you choose.

         20                 Okay, would you each identify

         21  yourselves?

         22                 MS. KLEIN: Amy Klein, Capital Budget

         23  Division.

         24                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Frank Tramontano,

         25  Finance Division.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, Amy, we

          3  might as well start with you.

          4                 The Expense Budget modification is in

          5  the sum of -- I mean, the Capital Budget

          6  modification is in the sum of $659,503, is that

          7  correct?

          8                 MS. KLEIN: Million. $659 million.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Did I say

         10  thousand?

         11                 MS. KLEIN: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: When I came here

         13  that's what it was.

         14                 All right.

         15                 MS. KLEIN: The $659 million is money

         16  that is currently in the five-year plan, it is being

         17  taken from Fiscal Years 2002, '03 and '04 and all

         18  being advanced into the current fiscal year.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So, in other

         20  words, we have to increase the capital budget for

         21  this fiscal year in order to accommodate the

         22  acceleration of certain capital items in Fiscal '02,

         23  '03 and '04; is that correct?

         24                 MS. KLEIN: In order to accelerate

         25  into this fiscal year 2001.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes, right.

          3                 Now, so that everybody understands,

          4  the items being accelerated are what?

          5                 MS. KLEIN: Our variety of school

          6  projects that are part of the existing five-year

          7  plan, primarily schools, creation of new seats. It

          8  is all projects that are currently part of the

          9  existing five-year plan but the projects that

         10  weren't going to happen until 2002, '03 and '04, but

         11  they have, they are moving this money into 2001 to

         12  advance these projects. They are not new projects,

         13  although they are projects that wouldn't have

         14  happened for a couple of years.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So, this

         16  overwhelmingly will be for the purposes of

         17  accelerating school construction?

         18                 MS. KLEIN: Exactly.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay. Now, this

         20  is, once again, so that everybody knows, these are

         21  school construction items that were in the capital

         22  budget, but backloaded for the years 2002, '03 and

         23  '04; is that correct?

         24                 MS. KLEIN: Correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right. Are
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          2  there any questions?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, Ms. Wooten,

          5  do you have a question?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Go ahead.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Am I to

          9  understand that you said backlogs, that some of the

         10  proposed construction that had been proposed for

         11  earlier years have now been pushed back?

         12                 MS. KLEIN: No, the opposite. Actually

         13  projects that are being pushed forward.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Do you have a

         15  listing of that?

         16                 MS. KLEIN: We will provide it. I will

         17  provide it for you. It is primarily new schools. It

         18  is schools that were being built, the latter part of

         19  the five-year plan are now being pushed forward. But

         20  I will get you an exact list.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Are they

         22  scheduled to have been on time? With their schedule?

         23                 MS. KLEIN: They were scheduled in

         24  2002, 2003 and 2004 and now we are advancing money

         25  so that they may start this Fiscal Year.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Now, for the

          4  purposes of clarification, the Mayor has also issued

          5  an amendment to the debt certificate to accommodate

          6  the spending of this money in the accelerated rate;

          7  is that correct?

          8                 MS. KLEIN: Correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, going on

         10  with questions now, Ms. Pinkett.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Well, among

         12  those, would that be those schools who have not been

         13  wired for computers and whatnot? Would that be part

         14  of what is going to be done?

         15                 MS. KLEIN: I believe it is for the

         16  creation of new schools.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Well, if you

         18  have computers in schools and the schools are not

         19  wired, why would you have to believe that it is for

         20  new schools, and what would the purpose of people

         21  having computer, computer lab and the schools are

         22  not wired to receive them?

         23                 MS. KLEIN: The $659 million came out

         24  of the Mayor's State-of-the-City Address in which he

         25  announced he wanted to advance funds to advance this
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          2  school construction program, and that is what this

          3  mod does.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Well, it

          5  would seem to me that if we are going to do anything

          6  to advance schools, you cannot have computers in

          7  schools and labs and the labs aren't working because

          8  of the fact that the schools part of construction

          9  have not been wired, and it would appear to me that

         10  that would be one of the intelligent things that

         11  would be added to this construction list. Would it

         12  not appear so to you?

         13                 MS. KLEIN: If you have a list of

         14  schools that you want to provide, we would be happy

         15  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I asked a

         17  question. Certainly I would give you a list of

         18  schools, but it certainly seems to me that the

         19  Council has a responsibility to see to it that that

         20  is one of the things that would be occurring,

         21  because there was a number of schools that have not

         22  been wired, and that should be considered as part of

         23  this particular ethic if there is money advanced and

         24  this is for the benefit of the schools and

         25  education, this certainly should be a priority.
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          2                 MS. KLEIN: Actually, the last set of

          3  information that we received from the Board of

          4  Education was that 95 percent of the schools within

          5  the Board of Education, at least four classrooms at

          6  each of these schools have been wired, and I know

          7  that there is a proposal to wire the balance of

          8  them. But according to the Board of Education, 95

          9  percent of all schools have at least some wiring

         10  going to them for Internet.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I find that

         12  so often the information we get from the Board is to

         13  be questioned. So, I would like, one, the

         14  information that you are going to provide would be

         15  made available to all of us as Council members, and,

         16  two, that the Board would provide us with those

         17  schools that have not been wired, so that we then

         18  can make that decision as to what needs to be done.

         19                 MS. KLEIN: Sure.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ms. Eldridge, did

         22  you have a question?

         23                 I am sorry, Mr. O'Donovan.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You are welcome.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: Amy, on the

          4  schedule A worksheet on page three, for instance, I

          5  see the miscellaneous parks and parkways and

          6  playground structures, original improvements,

          7  embellishments in Staten Island, it actually jumped

          8  from 3 million to 4 million something.

          9                 MS. KLEIN: The capital budget is two

         10  parts, the first being the $659 million that we are

         11  advancing in the Board of Ed.

         12                 The second is a series of clean-ups

         13  that were left over from the budget. These were all

         14  City Council projects which the project was put in

         15  the incorrect budget line.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: This is not a new

         17  project? And this is not new monies, it is merely

         18  the correction and the focusing of the project in

         19  the appropriate agency?

         20                 MS. KLEIN: Yes, that's correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: So, when I

         22  see, for instance, on page five rescindments from

         23  prior capital projects, we have construction,

         24  reconstruction and resurfacing of streets on Staten

         25  Island, amount to be rescinded $500,000, does that
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          2  mean it is taken out of one and going to another or

          3  is it just eliminated?

          4                 MS. KLEIN: In that particular project

          5  it is being taken out of HWC104, which is a highway

          6  line, and it is being put into PCO20, which is a

          7  parks line. It was placed in the wrong agency.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: And the

          9  next one, the reconstruction of the conference

         10  house, amount to be rescinded $255,000? That means

         11  it is going some place else?

         12                 MS. KLEIN: Taken out of the budget

         13  line and being placed into a different budget line.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: So, none of

         15  these monies have been lost?

         16                 MS. KLEIN: No, it is all transferred

         17  from one line to another line.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, Mr.

         20  Ognibene, did you want to be heard?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Yes. And I

         22  wanted to clarify the issue with the large budget

         23  modification with respect to schools.

         24                 There aren't any -- we are not

         25  talking about any new schools, these are schools
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          2  that have been planned but were anticipated to be

          3  built in later years and we are accelerating that

          4  construction into this year's budget?

          5                 MS. KLEIN: Exactly, that's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And this

          7  doesn't have anything to do with -- the idea of

          8  rewiring and putting computers in schools and things

          9  like that, there are separate capital items for that

         10  to be accomplished?

         11                 MS. KLEIN: That's correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: So that this

         13  money is money that was earmarked for a later period

         14  and we are just going to build our schools a lot

         15  faster than we had anticipated?

         16                 MS. KLEIN: That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any other

         20  questions?

         21                 Okay, thank you, Amy.

         22                 Cheech.

         23                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Yes --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Oh, I am sorry,

         25  hold on. Ms. Wooten again. My apologies.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Mr. Chair, I

          3  just want to reiterate what my colleague raised a

          4  little while ago.

          5                 This fund that moves the funds up for

          6  building of these schools is strictly in the

          7  category of construction. There is nothing

          8  whatsoever to do with what we need, in other words,

          9  in these new schools we are anticipating a wiring of

         10  whatever there is to accommodate up-to-date

         11  technologies; am I correct?

         12                 MS. KLEIN: There is a technology

         13  component in the five-year plan, that's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: But this does

         15  not carry an addendum that would embrace any outside

         16  technologies whatsoever?

         17                 MS. KLEIN: This does not increase

         18  technology in the five-year plan.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: I just want to

         20  make that very clear, that this is monies that is

         21  designated to construction of new schools only.

         22                 MS. KLEIN: To the best of my

         23  knowledge, these monies are going to be for new

         24  schools.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, no

          3  other questions?

          4                 Sheldon, did you have a question on

          5  MN4?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: This is a

          7  clarification that all of money is going just for

          8  new schools?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I think Amy

         10  testified that to the best of her understanding --

         11  you know, before we vote on it, Amy, why don't you

         12  just try to get an answer on that and we will share

         13  that information with Ms. Pinkett.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I would like

         15  that, because it seems to me that we always come

         16  across looking very badly. We build new schools but

         17  we built other schools and we say we are making

         18  children computer literate and they can't function,

         19  and yet we don't complete that, and that's all I

         20  want to know.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We will get you

         22  the information, but let me just comment, let me

         23  just comment and say that this Council has provided

         24  millions upon millions upon millions of dollars, we

         25  have provided millions and millions of dollars to
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          2  education and School Construction Authority, and if

          3  as a consequence of their incompetence they cannot

          4  bring a simple or even a remotely more complicated

          5  project to fruition, it is not the fault of this

          6  Council when we appropriate the money. It is the

          7  fault of the Board of Education and the School

          8  Construction Authority. So, to the reference that we

          9  look bad when we provide money to do this, I take

         10  dramatic exception to that.

         11                 However, you are entitled to your

         12  opinion.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Excuse me.

         14  Let me just say this: First of all, I did not say

         15  that. I said the Council looks bad, not because it

         16  is bad. As a matter of fact yesterday I did make the

         17  statement that this Council has provided more money

         18  for education in the last eight or ten years than

         19  ever before, but the fact remains that if you get

         20  computers and you do not use them, and if you have a

         21  lab and you cannot use it, it does reflect on us,

         22  not because we will it so, but because someone

         23  dropped the ball, and they come back to us, and so I

         24  would appreciate the information.

         25                 Thank you so much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Cheech.

          3                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Also before you is

          4  MN3, which is the Expense Budget modification for

          5  the November Plan. This moves around $567 million

          6  throughout the budget, which implements the November

          7  plan in combination with MN4 it raises the budget

          8  stabilization account to $1.2 billion, and if you

          9  want to know the details within the agency, it was

         10  passed out to you just recently, a legal piece of

         11  paper, which identifies the changes by agency, the

         12  tos and froms and a summary basis. And I will answer

         13  any questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, ladies

         15  and gentlemen, why don't you take a few minutes to

         16  look through this and while we are doing that, Mr.

         17  Leffler, you have some questions? And Ms. Eldridge,

         18  you have questions.

         19                 Mr. Leffler, you go first, and then

         20  we will proceed.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay.

         22                 First, I have questions on the Police

         23  Department budget, which is as you would expect,

         24  since I chair the Committee.

         25                 The first question is, why are you
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          2  the person here answering the questions rather than

          3  Commissioner Kerik? There is a budget modification

          4  involving $115 million in Police Department

          5  overtime, this is in addition to the $25 million

          6  that was in the June budget for operation Condor,

          7  which is an overtime program --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Personally,

          9  Sheldon, let me respond to your question by saying

         10  that this was put into your box yesterday or the day

         11  before, had you requested it then perhaps we could

         12  have accommodated that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: How is that a

         14  response to the question of why don't we have the

         15  Police Commissioner responding with respect to the

         16  request for $115 million in Police Department

         17  overtime?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It would appear

         19  to me, sir, that this is something that was not a

         20  secret and it is something that you as Chair of that

         21  Committee could have dealt with.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: And we did

         23  deal with it.

         24                 Moving on then. We had a hearing on

         25  this in which he was supposed to come in November.
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          2  He did not come. So, I have questions with respect

          3  to the substance; and that is, what sort of way of

          4  doing this is adding $115 million now? What is the

          5  strategic plan for the Department for the use of the

          6  overtime?

          7                 What are the performance measures so

          8  that we know if, in fact, the program is successful

          9  or not successful?

         10                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Well, I think this is

         11  a budget modification and I think from the

         12  perspective of the Finance Division, this is just to

         13  approve the money in the budget.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Why does that

         15  make sense?

         16                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Well, I think in the

         17  past we have had problems with them spending the

         18  money and coming to use afterwards and asking for a

         19  modification. This was out there in November, and to

         20  their credit they have at least given us the fact

         21  that they were going to need more money in November.

         22                 So, we knew about it early, which is

         23  one of the complaints that we had over the time.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I don't think

         25  that is a satisfactory explanation of need for the
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          2  money.

          3                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I will get into that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: To say in

          5  November we are going to want additional $115

          6  million.

          7                 MR. TRAMONTANO: The way we understand

          8  it, the $115 million is broken up for $80 million

          9  more in Operation Condor, and the $35 million more

         10  in events overtime.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: All right, so

         12  why does it make sense, at a time when the Police

         13  Department has 41,000 police officers, the highest

         14  in history, for us to be adding by far the largest

         15  police overtime in history? Why not do this, for

         16  example, through deployment of the 41,000 officers,

         17  rather than have this limited number on overtime?

         18                 Why not do the civilianization, which

         19  some of us have advocated year after year? Why do

         20  this with this enormous overtime?

         21                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I think these are

         22  valid questions, but they are not something that is

         23  finance related, it is policy related.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: That's why I

         25  began by saying why don't we have the Commissioner
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          2  here to respond to these questions? To the best of

          3  my knowledge, the Commissioner has never responded.

          4  I mean, responded, you know, in depth to these

          5  questions to the Council, not at all.

          6                 This is an unsatisfactory way to

          7  conduct the public's business.

          8                 But moving on, the Commissioner

          9  responded -- not the Commissioner, but the

         10  representative of the Police Department, when we

         11  asked him this in November, that they compared the

         12  -- a two-week period when they suspended Operation

         13  Condor to the performance under Operation Condor for

         14  a much longer period of time, and, you know, we have

         15  never seen an analysis of this, or why that is a

         16  rational way of doing things. I mean, what you need

         17  is a more in-depth analysis.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: How much of this

         19  4115 million is overtime that has already been

         20  accrued?

         21                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I think through

         22  December $179 million has been spent in overtime.

         23  The budget had 125 million in it. I think Andy

         24  Grossman could give you a little more.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It is in your
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          2  statement here that the overtime --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Excuse me, Mr.

          4  Leffler.

          5                 I asked Mr. Tramontano.

          6                 MR. TRAMONTANO: It is probably in the

          7  write-up.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It is $157

          9  million in the adopted budget, and this is an

         10  additional, pursuant to this expenditures have

         11  reached $172 million.

         12                 MR. TRAMONTANO: That's right. Through

         13  December there has been $172 million spent, this

         14  modification will bring the overtime budget up to

         15  $272 million.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right now.

         17  And we are going at the rate, are we not, where we

         18  will have a $344 million overtime budget.

         19                 MR. TRAMONTANO: That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: That is what

         21  you say in the sentence prior on MN --

         22                 MR. TRAMONTANO: That's correct. But

         23  there may be other resources that may come available

         24  later. I think the City is trying to get the federal

         25  government to pay for some of that UN overtime that
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          2  we had, so that may be money that may come in at a

          3  later date, that will help the budget.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: What are the

          5  pension costs that are likely to accrue as a result

          6  of the inflated overtime over the last years of the

          7  officers who were working this overtime?

          8                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Well, the pension

          9  costs won't be for this year, it will be for next

         10  year, it will only be on those officers who retire

         11  in the final year of how this contributed to their

         12  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: That was

         14  assumed in the question.

         15                 MR. TRAMONTANO: All right. It is

         16  unclear to tell because you have to look from a

         17  perspective of how many of these officers were

         18  retiring in prior years overtime as compared to now,

         19  and I think that maybe, there may be a correlation

         20  that the Police in their last year get more overtime

         21  as a result and so maybe this doesn't contribute any

         22  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I have no doubt

         24  --

         25                 MR. TRAMONTANO: But I think it is an
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          2  in-depth analysis that you would have to look at and

          3  I couldn't tell you right now.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I have no doubt

          5  that on some officers it will have some impact, it

          6  always invariably does.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It will have

          8  to have a tremendous impact because you are dealing

          9  with the largest --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sheldon, I don't

         11  know what the specific numbers are that are involved

         12  and who will retire, and if that is the case how

         13  many of them are in the tier that will enable one

         14  year to impact on their pension.

         15                 Now, there will be some who will be

         16  impacted by this, no question about it. This happens

         17  not only in the Police Department, but in the Fire

         18  Department, the Sanitation Department and many other

         19  areas of the City.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right. But

         21  you are dealing with an unprecedentedly large

         22  overtime right here. It dwarfs the overtime in the

         23  Fire Department or in any other Department. I mean,

         24  this amount is being basically built into the base,

         25  and the base is of their year. In other words, do
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          2  you still do it on the last year or the last two

          3  years?

          4                 MR. TRAMONTANO: It is all done on the

          5  last year, the result of pension changes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: So, those

          7  officers who are retiring can build, you know,

          8  larger overtime in their base, and then the City is

          9  paying it off for the rest of their lives, and if

         10  they take the right option, in the lives of their

         11  surviving spouse, right?

         12                 MR. TRAMONTANO: But that is all built

         13  into how we calculate the pension costs, yes.

         14                 My only point here, to the extent

         15  this is any different than current practice, I don't

         16  think you could tell unless you do a real in-depth

         17  analysis.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: That is what

         19  I am asking for. I mean, you are asking us to

         20  approve this.

         21                 MR. TRAMONTANO: You have to go back

         22  and look at all the years in the past, how overtime,

         23  what the general overtime level was and people who

         24  retired and then compare it to people who are going

         25  to retire this year, which we won't know about until
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          2  a later point.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But it seems

          4  to me you can project a reasonable assumption of

          5  what this is likely, roughly speaking, with caveats,

          6  to cost the City in the future.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sheldon, he has

          8  responded that he can't.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It will be

         10  difficult --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: No matter how

         12  many times you reconfigure that question, he is not

         13  going to change his answer. Now, you may disagree

         14  with him and you are entitled to, but he is not

         15  going to change his answer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I don't think

         17  he is saying that he can't.

         18                 What you are saying is you haven't

         19  done it, right?

         20                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Right, but I am not

         21  sure if the information --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: But he can't give

         23  you an answer.

         24                 MR. TRAMONTANO: -- I can get from the

         25  Police Department, as far as where the overtime for
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          2  this year is going in terms of how many potential

          3  retirees are getting more overtime than they had in

          4  previous years, I am not sure that information is

          5  clear or can be gotten.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right. But as

          7  a likelihood, with so much extra overtime, a lot of

          8  it is probably going to people who realize that this

          9  will help them in the future; isn't that right?

         10                 In fact, when we had the --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sheldon, that is

         12  an unfair question to ask.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It's not

         14  unfair at all.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Of course --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I think what

         17  is really unfair is to do this --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sir, you are

         19  asking him to determine which police personnel are

         20  going to be the recipients of the overtime. It is a

         21  non-sensical question to ask.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It is not a

         23  nonsensical question. When we had --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, do you

         25  have any other questions, Mr. Leffler?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I will tell

          3  you why --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I mean, you are

          5  the Chair of the Committee, you have extensive

          6  oversight capacity, I suggest, sir, that you use

          7  your oversight and the information that is culled as

          8  a consequence of the oversight, it could be a source

          9  of enormous reference to this Committee.  Utilize

         10  it, sir.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: And we have

         12  had the oversight, and the only way something like

         13  this gets done, if it becomes a Council priority,

         14  and this is worthy of that, because these are large

         15  amounts of money that we have in consequences, not

         16  only for years and decades, but for generations, as

         17  I have just tried to show.

         18                 What are the ancillary costs of this,

         19  for the courts --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Are you talking

         21  about ancillary costs or ancillary costs?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Well, either

         23  one. People pronounce it differently, ancillary or

         24  ancillary.

         25                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I am not sure that if
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          2  there were any additional costs, that they weren't

          3  already picked up in the budget modifications, and

          4  we don't see any additional court costs for us --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Have you

          6  checked with the DAs' offices? Don't they believe

          7  that dealing with this requires --

          8                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Well, to my

          9  knowledge, there has been no request of them asking

         10  for more money.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I have a

         12  hunch that when they come before us in the next

         13  month or so --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, that might

         15  be the case.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: They will

         17  point --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And as a matter

         19  of fact, the hearings you will preside over in the

         20  Public Safety aspect of that hearing, as the Chair

         21  of that Committee, and that will be your

         22  jurisdiction.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: If you recall,

         25  when we set up, even though they are joint Finance
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          2  and Public Safety hearings, we always permit the

          3  substantive Committee chair to inquire.

          4                 All right, may we go on? If you have

          5  more questions, we will come back to you.

          6                 Ms. Eldridge.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What I think

          8  part of the problem with this budget mod is, that it

          9  is incorporating new proposals of the Mayor. I mean,

         10  it seems to me there are items in here that he

         11  talked about in his State-of-the-City Address.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: There are new

         13  proposals by the Mayor, there are new proposals by

         14  the Council in here.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Well, then

         16  how do we ever have Council participation or

         17  oversight?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We have

         19  repeatedly asked people if they had any -- over the

         20  last several months everybody has been told time and

         21  time again, that if you have any items that were

         22  missed in any way in the budget, that we would

         23  attempt to try and include it in the budget mod.

         24  Members came in and presented certain projects.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I am not
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          2  talking about that. I am talking about, for

          3  instance, and Ms. Wooten, I am sorry to be picking

          4  Board of Ed, but it is up near the front. So, I look

          5  at it, in it is the funding for proposals that I

          6  thought were made that would come up in the new

          7  budget because they were made in the Mayor's

          8  State-of-the-City Address, I thought, and that was

          9  like the in-school detention.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: There are several

         11  items --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Several,

         13  there are a lot, and it's a lot of money, and it is

         14  coming to use without any kind of oversight and it

         15  is a big change, it seems to me. There are classroom

         16  libraries and private and parochial schools, there

         17  are lots of things in here, and I don't understand

         18  -- I am not even sure that I think that every

         19  classroom should have its own library, part of the

         20  thing is to go to a library and we should have

         21  school libraries.

         22                 So that is what I find confusing and

         23  I think a difference in this kind of, this

         24  Administration's budget mods, and that's why I

         25  believe that Sheldon -- I mean, I agree with
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          2  Sheldon, the Administration should be here to

          3  explain the budget mod and not just our people

          4  because we are talking about new things in here.

          5                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Just to give you a

          6  little bit of a background, at adoption there was

          7  $88 million that was put in the miscellaneous

          8  budget, took away from the Board of Education, put

          9  in the miscellaneous budget, in an attempt to reduce

         10  bureaucracy and get more money into the district.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Right. So,

         12  it cuts the Board of Education by $88 million, now

         13  he is restoring $44 million, but he is restoring it

         14  in a different way.

         15                 MR. TRAMONTANO: And this $44 million

         16  represents initiatives that were part of what the

         17  Chancellor and the Mayor decided were appropriate.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But the City

         19  Council is here to provide oversight for that. I

         20  don't really care what the Mayor and the Chancellor

         21  have decided, I think that is something, when we are

         22  talking about $44 million, it's a lot of money, we

         23  should have some oversight over it, rather than just

         24  get it in a budget mod.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Let me just give
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          2  some historical perspective as to the issue of the

          3  $88 million so that you know.

          4                 We had reached an impasse on the $88

          5  million back when we were doing the budget adoption,

          6  when the Mayor's proposal was to remove $88 million

          7  from the central expense, and to cause it to be

          8  distributed to the various districts.

          9                 At that time the Speaker and myself

         10  met with the Mayor, and we suggested that rather

         11  than remove the money from the Central Board and

         12  give it to the districts, because for the most part,

         13  if you gave it to the districts, it is, in my

         14  opinion at least, strongly doubtful that we would

         15  have seen any benefit whatsoever, that we put it

         16  into a holding mod and make it available to the

         17  Board of Ed during the course of the year, the Board

         18  of Ed being required to come in and prove

         19  meritoriously that they needed the money. So, the

         20  money was saved and made available to the Board of

         21  Ed.

         22                 OMB's position is that with the

         23  exception of approximately $9 million, the Board of

         24  Ed has not made any significant effort to prove that

         25  they needed this money, other than to talk in
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          2  generalities. Cheech, am I right?

          3                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

          5                 So, we still have $44 million

          6  available to the Board that can be obtained by them,

          7  and we still have what is generally encouraged at

          8  the end of every year, which is the roll-over money

          9  that the Board generally generates that sometimes is

         10  as low as $50 million and sometimes as high as $200

         11  million that can accommodate their needs, but we

         12  basically saved the money that would otherwise have

         13  been clearly lost to the Board. Now, that is only

         14  with regard to the reference you made to the 488

         15  million.

         16                 Now, Ms. Wooten.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: I just want

         18  to, Ronnie addressed me and I want to reiterate the

         19  fact that the Board of Education, along with OMB

         20  discussed these areas, and the Chair has explained

         21  to you that it was on hold, and it's my

         22  understanding in the discussions that I have had

         23  with some of the Board of Ed members that they

         24  concur with whatever is taking place. Now, if they

         25  are not able to come up with the full amount of
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          2  money and some of the proposals that they had

          3  anticipated, I don't have any additional information

          4  to that, but, however, I do know that they are full

          5  aware of what is taking place here today.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But the

          7  Board of Ed itself has not formally adopted these

          8  proposals, has it? I mean, this is the Chancellor

          9  and the Mayor.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Well, the

         11  Board of Education, there has been a lot of money

         12  that has been allocated in different areas and

         13  different categories. The Board of Ed does not have

         14  to act on it right now, it could act on it later on

         15  at their perspective meetings, but most certainly

         16  this money was there and they were aware of it, so

         17  it is just a matter of moving it within their red

         18  tape, whatever.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But the

         20  Council is supposed to have oversight on these

         21  things, and I am just saying that as a Council

         22  Member --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: The Council is

         24  supposed to have oversight on existing --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: On the
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          2  budget proposals. I mean, we are interested --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: The Chairman

          4  indicated to you that there were monies that was on

          5  hold and they were waiting --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Okay.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Because there

          8  are always discussions on modifications and the way

          9  that people move money around without explaining

         10  what they are doing, and in this instance it clearly

         11  tells us where it is and it's not like we have not

         12  heard it before.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: All right. I

         14  think this is a distortion on the part of the

         15  Administration of the use of a budget mod, that it

         16  is my understanding a budget mod is to make up money

         17  in agencies where you need the money and to take

         18  away where you have --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, budget mods

         20  clearly --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: It is not to

         22  implement new policies.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I don't

         24  necessarily agree with that because budget mods --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And if that
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          2  is true then we are in for a lot of trouble.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: But Ronnie,

          4  the budget mods, we have questions about allocating

          5  money in categories and then back and forward their

          6  modification to and for, and to me this is a little

          7  clearer because at least you are not -- we have been

          8  accused of people hiding the money and then when you

          9  need it you move it from one line to another, so

         10  this is the first time that I have been a part of a

         11  problem or a situation where it has been in a

         12  category and it is utilized in this respect, because

         13  usually we are removing it from one area to another;

         14  am I correct, Mr. Chair?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: We are

         17  removing it, you know, we play those chairs, we put

         18  it in one category and then the next November you

         19  are moving it from that category into another, at

         20  least I know that it was on hold and this is where

         21  it is right now.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I am not

         23  finished.

         24                 On the non-school public payments, I

         25  mean is that money to private and parochial school
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          2  libraries?

          3                 MS. EMANUEL: Staci Emanuel, City

          4  Council Finance Division.

          5                 Yes, it is.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And are

          7  there any restrictions about what books can be

          8  bought with that money?

          9                 MS. EMANUEL: I believe the Board has

         10  a list, but whatever money we give for things like

         11  libraries, transportation and school health, for

         12  example, we have to also afford that to non-public

         13  schools, and so that is why --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I mean, don't

         15  they on a regular basis get a percentage of all

         16  library funds and school book funds?

         17                 MS. EMANUEL: And textbook, based on

         18  state law.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: This is not

         20  complaint about the Finance office, the staff, but

         21  we were told that this budget mod was in the boxes

         22  yesterday, and we have a small staff and we are

         23  uptown and I am closer than many other people, so I

         24  think it was very difficult for us to come down here

         25  to get them and be able to --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: If that be the

          3  case, what we should do, and, Cheech, I am asking

          4  you to -- and Haeda, you are the Director, I am

          5  asking you where members request in the future that

          6  we fax mods or other items to them, please arrange

          7  to fax as well as leave it in their box.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Well, you

          9  could put them on the net, we could take it off the

         10  net.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Or put it on the

         12  net, whatever you like.

         13                 There should be an alternative method

         14  for people who are not near City Hall to get -- she

         15  is absolutely right. So, will you accommodate that,

         16  please?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I notice

         18  that on page 25 there is TANF funding, TANF surplus

         19  funding, going to the Beacon's program, I just

         20  wondered if someone could give me a report now about

         21  where we are with childcare funding and whether it

         22  has been fully restored and reflects the increases

         23  that the Council has made last year, and why a

         24  decision was made to put TANF money into the

         25  Beacon's program and not some other programs that
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          2  would be eligible to receive it.

          3                 MR. BRUNO: I am Peter Bruno,

          4  Assistant Director for Human Services and Health in

          5  the Finance Division.

          6                 The policy decision was made for

          7  youth in particular, because it was deemed that

          8  certain beacon programs were eligible for the TANF

          9  funding, it was done on a two-year basis because of

         10  the uncertainty of TANF on the federal level in the

         11  future, and it was a small amount of funding that is

         12  easily substituted by the TANF funding for at least

         13  the two years when the City funding was pulled.

         14                 In regards to child care, I believe

         15  it is a much more significant problem that has not

         16  been dealt with in that fashion yet, but

         17  difficulties at ACS and accessing the TANF funding

         18  that they need.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Would you do me a

         20  favor and define TANF?

         21                 MR. BRUNO: Temporary Assistance to

         22  Needy Families. It used to be known as AFDC, which

         23  was the General Welfare grant for public assistance,

         24  and I believe in small instances, such as in youth,

         25  it has been quite a simple process to find those
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          2  easy substitutions. In child care it is a much more

          3  complex problem and they have not done that

          4  officially.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And do we

          6  now see the number of slots we have allocated, that

          7  the Council has allocated over the last couple of

          8  years? Are they all fully funded now in ACS?

          9                 MR. BRUNO: I believe they are

         10  incorporated in the base of ACS at this point, yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What is

         12  there, a $2 billion surplus?

         13                 MR. BRUNO: Yes, 2.1 I believe.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: A $2.1

         15  billion excess in TANF funds that we will lose,

         16  right? If it doesn't get spent? The state will lose

         17  it?

         18                 MR. BRUNO: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: By when?

         20                 MR. BRUNO: I would have to check the

         21  exact date.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I think it

         23  is very soon. Next year.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, let me tell

         25  you something --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Let me just

          3  say this, this is something very important.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You are raising a

          5  very extraordinary point. If, in fact, we are in

          6  jeopardy of losing the money for an inability to

          7  spend it, we ought to be addressing it, so would you

          8  please --

          9                 MR. BRUNO: It's a state issue,

         10  Councilman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, but we

         12  could make recommendations to the state. That is to

         13  be addressed, please, forthwith, okay?

         14                 Thanks, Ronnie.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And just to

         16  further object, it seems to me, I remember last

         17  year, the members of the Council did not want to

         18  allocate any more money to Operation Condor, and we

         19  then went through this very elaborate process to

         20  show that the money we were authorizing was really

         21  not going to Operation Condor, it was going to

         22  something else, and that seems to have been

         23  forgotten. And I think the fact that we are now

         24  being asked to put $80 million into Operation

         25  Condor, and I had said to you, I wasn't going to
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          2  mention The Legal Aid Society, but --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: No, you can

          4  mention it. I am not --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Without

          6  increasing Legal Aid, it is just outrageous, and

          7  it's something that I think we don't fully

          8  understand.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Let me address

         10  The Legal Aid Society issue.

         11                 That is an issue that is an ongoing

         12  debate. We have been vigorous supporters of The

         13  Legal Aid Society. The Legal Aid Society knows that

         14  were it not for this Council they probably would not

         15  have sustained the amount of money that they did

         16  sustain when we did the budget adoption.

         17                 This budget does not cut any monies

         18  from The Legal Aid Society, it does not add any

         19  money to them but it doesn't cut.

         20                 But also understand that in keeping

         21  with that, you know, we have also provided a

         22  considerable amount of money for Alternatives to

         23  Incarceration and a variety of other programs that

         24  were part of the overall umbrella of The Legal Aid

         25  concept.
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          2                 We have not given up The Legal Aid

          3  Society issue. I believe The Legal Aid Society was

          4  very much aware of the fact that we were proceeding

          5  with this budget modification, and I believe that

          6  they were also kind of content that the issue had

          7  been made with the understanding that we are going

          8  to continue the fight for Legal Aid.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I understand

         10  that, and I understand the whole thing, I don't

         11  think that is going to remove my objections --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, I

         13  understand that, Ronnie.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Let me just

         15  finish this, though.

         16                 The Legal Aid Society depends on us

         17  for the additional money and so they can go so far

         18  to hold up the negotiations and to ruffle feathers

         19  with the Administration because you can see what

         20  happened the last time they did that, they got cut.

         21                 But with the Operation Condor, we

         22  know that the arrests are increased, and not only do

         23  we know that the arrests are increased, we know that

         24  they are misdemeanor arrests, which a lot of use

         25  question as to whether it's worth the cost. It
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          2  certainly is not worth the cost that we are

          3  expending for these marijuana misdemeanor arrests or

          4  for the harassment.

          5                 And, so, Operation Condor is a major

          6  issue, and it relates right into The Legal Aid

          7  Society because they then have more people that they

          8  have to --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: One of the things

         10  that I have asked The Legal Aid Society to address

         11  certain issues raised by the Administration as to

         12  the volume of business.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But they did

         14  that, and the Public Safety Committee had a very

         15  long contentious hearing on this. And we talked

         16  about it, we had the Deputy Commissioner there, the

         17  Commissioner couldn't make it, and when people

         18  testified, the Legal Aid people testified, people

         19  who are involved in these arrest programs, I had a

         20  report from the Independent Budget Office, I think

         21  they testified.

         22                 There is no doubt that this is an

         23  exceedingly expensive and repressive program, and we

         24  just continue not to have it affected in what we are

         25  doing and we need to show that we are not in favor

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  of it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

          4                 Ms. Pinkett, Mr. Michels, Mr.

          5  Spigner.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You are welcome.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I think it

          9  would be foolish to pretend that all of our

         10  protestations will change the outcome of the vote,

         11  but I do want to make the following statement. I

         12  think that what we are doing is giving away the

         13  privilege of a legislative body to be the

         14  legislative body, and that is supposed to mean that

         15  the checks and balances are eroding by this

         16  particular process.

         17                 The Mayor has a perfect right to

         18  submit to this Council for a review his budget, and

         19  we are to examine it independently, not have his

         20  budget interspersed within our own budget, and we

         21  ought to be free to discuss it, to pick it apart, to

         22  ask questions and to openly dialogue, even if we

         23  disagree among ourselves as to some of the

         24  positions, but that is why we are a legislative

         25  body, and we contend that we are the only
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          2  legislative body of the City of New York.

          3                 I do not believe that Congress will

          4  accept that the House of Representatives would

          5  accept from the President his agenda as totally

          6  their recommendations and their report, and still

          7  retain the integrity of Congress.

          8                 I think that we give away something

          9  that is very, very important for this legislative

         10  body, and we ought to consider that.

         11                 I think that maybe while there may be

         12  many good things or things that we want to consider

         13  that the Mayor offers, it should not be included in

         14  this report as our budget. It should be separate and

         15  apart from what we do.

         16                 Some of these things are the

         17  proposals that the Mayor made in his

         18  State-of-the-City address and should be reviewed by

         19  Committee, should have a chance to be questioned and

         20  there should be a response, as you as Chairman would

         21  do, as you used to do when you ripped OMB apart and

         22  then delivered them to the Committee, and having to

         23  answer to us for those differences of opinion, and I

         24  think that makes for a good government.

         25                 I don't think we should pretend that
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          2  this policy is the best policy for this City.

          3                 I do believe, however, I do believe

          4  that when we look at this, and, for example, if I go

          5  back to -- if we go back to the matter of

          6  representation for poor people, we cannot say that

          7  they understand that we underspeak for them, when we

          8  are talking about the legal arm that provides

          9  representation for poor people, because poor people

         10  cannot afford $300 an hour. Poor people must depend

         11  upon that organization. And we have seen that

         12  organization decimated, they are so afraid to take

         13  cases because they can be destroyed, and we

         14  generally are afraid to really speak up. We put a

         15  few dollars there, but we have changed so

         16  drastically, so drastically the legal rights of the

         17  poor in this City, we have to answer for that, and

         18  we can't blame anyone but ourselves, and I believe

         19  that we do have to have a more affirmative posture

         20  when we talk about Legal Aid and services.

         21                 And the B attorneys are not there.

         22  They are not showing up at court, there is a backlog

         23  in court, and that means that poor people are not

         24  being represented and we can't in any way attempt to

         25  pretend that that is legal representation.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Michels.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you.

          5                 I want to remind the Council and

          6  remind the staff that this $2.1 million waste

          7  prevention recycling coordinators is a program,

          8  recycling program is a three-year program, and just

          9  because they are coming in late with the money

         10  doesn't mean it should be any less than three years.

         11  So, if the money is not used in this year it should

         12  be rolled over, and when you negotiate that, it

         13  should be negotiated; do you understand that?

         14                 MR. BRUNO: Yes, and we are going to

         15  keep a close eye on that because that is one of our

         16  Council major initiatives.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: If they don't

         18  put the money in, then we keep it going for three

         19  years, that's extremely important.

         20                 The other thing is this MTA station

         21  maintenance, 907,000, page 18 of your document.

         22                 MR. BRUNO: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why is the

         24  City paying for maintenance of Long Island Railroad

         25  Metro North stations within New York City? Why
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          2  aren't they paying for it?

          3                 MR. BRUNO: We are required in the

          4  arrangements by law, or by agreement with the MTA,

          5  the stations are located in the City of New York.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you want

          7  to consult with somebody to make sure we are doing

          8  the right thing?

          9                 I don't it is a big mod.

         10                 MR. BRUNO: That's my understanding,

         11  that we are required, because they are located in

         12  the City of New York. Or it is either an agreement

         13  or a requirement. Like Metro North, all of the

         14  stations that are located inside the City of New

         15  York, we have to maintain it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why is that?

         17                 MR. BRUNO: Probably by agreement.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS can we get out

         19  of this agreement? They should be paying for it. We

         20  don't get any money from --

         21                 MR. BRUNO: I will find out how that

         22  arrangement is made.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It seems to

         24  be very unfair.

         25                 Now, this money that we are putting
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          2  in for the $1.5 million for various schools, I guess

          3  the Edison Program, and the money is in there and

          4  the parents in the schools have to agree, and vote

          5  to agree to become a school which will receive this

          6  money; what happens if the parents don't want their

          7  money, or disagree, what happens to the money?

          8                 MR. BRUNO: According to the contract

          9  they won't get the money. These are all milestones.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand,

         11  but what happens to the money?

         12                 MR. BRUNO: It doesn't get used and it

         13  gets put somewhere else in the budget or it rolls

         14  over. It won't be used this year. It can be modded

         15  the next time around somewhere else, or it could end

         16  up as a surplus or part of a surplus for next year.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Now, again, I

         18  know it has been said by Mary, Council Member

         19  Pinkett and Council Member Leffler and Council

         20  Member Eldridge, and as somebody who has been on the

         21  Public Safety Committee for many years and who has

         22  been --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Can

         24  everybody be quiet?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chairman,
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          2  can we have a little quiet, please.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You certainly

          4  can.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you,

          6  sir. I appreciate it.

          7                 Operation Condor, without arguing the

          8  efficacy of Operation Condor, there is no question

          9  in anybody's mind it is going to result in more

         10  arrests and more criminal prosecution; isn't that

         11  correct?

         12                 MR. BRUNO: TRAMONTANO:

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And Legal Aid

         14  has already come to us and said that they cannot, we

         15  have heard from them, we have spoken to them, they

         16  have said they are having trouble handling the

         17  amount of cases they have got right now. This is

         18  going to increase their caseload, it already has

         19  increased their caseload. And I know we have

         20  negotiated, we have met with resistance from the

         21  other side of the hall, and I know Mr. Berman has

         22  stated that we will continue to do this, and you

         23  feel we don't have the leverage to get the million

         24  dollars they need --

         25                 MR. TRAMONTANO: It is an ongoing
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          2  discussion, and part of the problem, or part of the

          3  argument on the other side is that, yes, well, maybe

          4  the overall caseload has gone up, but the felony

          5  cases have gone down and they take more time.

          6                 I mean, this is what the negotiations

          7  are about. This is what the arguments are about,

          8  and, so, in discussion, to present the other side of

          9  this, is that they claim that yes, while there are

         10  more misdemeanors, the overall time that Legal Aid

         11  has to spend is not much different than they did in

         12  previous years because they are spending less time

         13  on felony cases.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You do

         15  understand that many felonies are reduced to

         16  misdemeanors?

         17                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I believe the

         18  criteria as it comes forward from year to year has

         19  shown that there has been a drop in felony this year

         20  in cases that they use.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Are they

         22  originally arrests of felonies, or originally --

         23                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I believe they are

         24  originally from how they are arrested, how the Court

         25  originally deals with them.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I think you

          3  ought to check that. I would dispute that.

          4                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Well, the data I am

          5  sure is consistent from year-to-year.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: They are

          7  eventually --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Frank, it's

          9  simple, just check it.

         10                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I will.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Just check

         12  it.

         13                 But the fact of the matter is

         14  misdemeanors still take a lot of time, and there are

         15  still individual cases, individuals who have to be

         16  interviewed.

         17                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Arguably less than

         18  felonies.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I don't know

         20  if that is necessarily true, unless they go to trial

         21   --

         22                 MR. TRAMONTANO: That's the argument

         23  they are presenting.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You know that

         25  90 percent of the cases or maybe even more are
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          2  settled, or are plea bargained and arrangements are

          3  made. Very few cases actually go to trial, even

          4  though you may read about them in the newspaper, but

          5  there is a very small percentage, so that may not be

          6  true also. I think we have a problem here.

          7                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Well, we have been

          8  trying to get more money.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I am not

         10  going to be surprised if someone is going to be

         11  faced with a federal court action saying there has

         12  been an equal protection of the law argument or a

         13  due process argument here. So, I think we have to

         14  really look at this very carefully, and we have to

         15  use every leverage we have.

         16                 It's one thing to say, look, we have

         17  to have more police and get the criminals, but once

         18  they are there, in order to keep them in prison you

         19  need defense attorneys, and sometimes the cases are

         20  delayed because of lack of attorneys and those cases

         21  are dismissed and the felon or the person committing

         22  the misdemeanor is back on the streets. So, this

         23  goes against, this is counter to what happens, and

         24  these arguments have to be made.

         25                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Understood.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chairman,

          3  we do have, of course, your assurances and the

          4  assurances of our staff that we will vigorously

          5  pursue this, because I don't understand, $6 million

          6  is not going to make a heck of a big difference in

          7  this huge budget mod, and not being able to give it

          8  to them until Legal Aid --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I made that clear

         10  from the beginning, Stan.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I know. I am

         12  pretty sure you have. But this is something that

         13  really is very annoying to me, and I want to go on

         14  record to say that we are making a mistake here, we

         15  should be putting that money in and we are going to

         16  have to do it in the future.

         17                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I know you

         20  are not calling upon me, but could I just add

         21  something to this?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Mr. Chairman,

         23  somewhere in here I saw Campaign Finance Board there

         24  is a surplus of $2 million, that is on page two. How

         25  do we have a surplus, removing surplus with the
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          2  explosion of candidates seeking office, particularly

          3  during this year? Why do we take away money when I

          4  anticipate we will have to add money?

          5                 MR. TRAMONTANO: This action takes the

          6  position that for Fiscal Year '91 (sic), we will not

          7  be needing to spend --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: '91?

          9                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Fiscal Year '01, I am

         10  sorry. Fiscal Year '01 we will not be needing to

         11  spend this money.

         12                 There is only one special election

         13  that is going on currently.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: The heavy end

         15  will be in the next fiscal year?

         16                 MR. TRAMONTANO: That is what this

         17  budget modification is assuming, yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Now, let me

         19  ask another question as it relates to the Department

         20  of Buildings. What are the specific lease needs of

         21  the Department's Queens' office? Does anyone have

         22  any figures on that?

         23                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Yes, Peter Bruno will

         24  hopefully answer it.

         25                 MR. BRUNO: Councilman, what is your
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          2  exact question?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: On page 27,

          4  Department of Buildings, $197,000. The Department of

          5  Buildings' functions are in one building, which they

          6  totally control, except for maybe the ground floor.

          7                 MR. TRAMONTANO: David Patchefsky will

          8  answer.

          9                 MR. PATCHEFSKY: David Patchefsky,

         10  Council Finance.

         11                 This is a technical adjustment. They

         12  anticipated additional needs because they initially

         13  anticipated savings because they were going to

         14  consolidate all their functions, so they had taken

         15  down the budget in anticipation of moving to a new

         16  office or consolidating functions, and now they need

         17  to add the money back in until that occurs.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Okay, thank

         19  you.

         20                 Mr. Chairman, I do share concerns

         21  expressed about the overtime of the Police

         22  Department, but it is a dilemma that I think that we

         23  probably have to resolve on the side of the

         24  professionals.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I hear you. I
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          2  think it is a matter of concern that has to be

          3  looked at.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: I think it is

          5  an obscene -- 41,000 police officers is an obscene

          6  number of the armed forces City of New York's need,

          7  however, when my citizens complain and my groups in

          8  the community complain about loitering and about

          9  what they perceive to be narcotic abuses and other

         10  kinds of disruption in the community, we have to

         11  respond.

         12                 I mean, they don't want to hear, they

         13  don't want to hear dissertations, intellectual

         14  dissertations as to -- all they want is the problem

         15  moved off the corner. So, it is a dilemma that we

         16  have to be mindful of when we address these issues.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Very well said,

         18  Mr. Spigner.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 Any more questions?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: I just want

         22  to add, too, my support for the Legal Aid money.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I understand.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: I think that

         25  is an issue that we should be supportive of.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any other

          3  questions?

          4                 Sheldon.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: How much of

          6  the Police Department overtime budget relates to the

          7  security detail for Commissioner Safir?

          8                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I don't think we have

          9  that kind of detail.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You don't.

         11                 MR. TRAMONTANO: No.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: That's too

         13  bad.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, if

         16  there be no other questions -- I am sorry, Walter.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Just for

         18  the record, Cheech, if you could just take us

         19  through on the bus franchise savings, on the $3

         20  million? Certainly on the adjustment issue we

         21  understand, on the 2.5 million, on page 19, on the

         22  MTA reimbursement issue, on the $3 million where the

         23  increase in ridership, one of the items that is

         24  attendant to the increase in ridership is

         25  overcrowding on the buses, and the question is how
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          2  those services are going to be increased,

          3  particularly in off-peak hours, and what the

          4  consequences of this $3 million is in that regard.

          5                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I can only tell you

          6  the budgetary effect, that the increase in ridership

          7  has meant that the City's budget for subsidized

          8  buses can go down, because as you know, the function

          9  of what those subsidized buses get is first reduced

         10  by the amount of money they collect in the fare box.

         11  So, if they are collecting more money, the City then

         12  contributes less.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

         14                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Whether that means

         15  they are going to have to put out more buses to deal

         16  with that, I mean that is something of the

         17  negotiations that they on-go with the City and we

         18  are not privy to that, at least at this time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: All right.

         20  But at no point was that issue raised as a source of

         21  concern?

         22                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Not to us. But we

         23  will address it upon your request.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

          3                 All right, thank you, ladies and

          4  gentlemen. I have two announcements that I would

          5  like to take care of. Firstly, on the question asked

          6  of Amy when she was testifying, of the $659 million

          7  on the Capital Budget mod, $359 million is

          8  attributed to construction of seven new schools, and

          9  five school additions, $300 million is for the

         10  rehabilitation of existing schools, including

         11  facades, plumbing and electrical work.

         12                 All right, now, I also have an

         13  announcement. If anybody would like to join me on a

         14  letter that I am sending to President Bush, urging

         15  him to reconsider and rescind the Executive Order

         16  barring federal funds to any foreign

         17  non-governmental organization for family planning

         18  activities, including abortion services, counseling

         19  and referrals.

         20                 I have the letter which is available

         21  for anybody who would like to look at it. Some

         22  people have already signed.

         23                 Having said that now, I would ask for

         24  a vote.

         25                 Wait a minute, we have Land Use. All
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          2  right, let's do this very quickly, because there are

          3  other Committee meetings. What are the two Land Use

          4  items?

          5                 MR. PATCHEFSKY: I am David Patchefsky

          6  from Council Finance.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Good morning,

          8  David.

          9                 MR. PATCHEFSKY: If you can unbury the

         10  memo from myself to the Committee, you will see

         11  there are two Land Use items of partial property tax

         12  exemptions, the first one is a new foundations

         13  program in Council Member Foster's district.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Has Councilman

         15  Foster agreed to this?

         16                 MR. PATCHEFSKY: Yes, he has approved

         17  of it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay. Are there

         19  any questions on this Land Use item?

         20                 Next one, sir.

         21                 MR. PATCHEFSKY: Next one, the

         22  Partnership New Homes Program in Council Member

         23  DiBrienza's District.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Who has just

         25  signed off on it?
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          2                 MR. PATCHEFSKY: Yes, he has.

          3                 I just need to add one point for the

          4  record, if I may.

          5                 This is 14 buildings, 44 units, it's

          6  residential eight two- and three-family homes, and

          7  six four-unit condominiums, there is also commercial

          8  space, three retail storefronts and two offices, and

          9  under this program the commercial space is not

         10  subject to the tax exemption.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, are there

         12  any questions?

         13                 All right, ladies and gentlemen,

         14  under the circumstances, we have several items to be

         15  voted on today. The two Land Use items which were

         16  just testified. The last Land Use item on the agenda

         17  is not being considered today. The preconsidered

         18  Intro on the commercial rent tax which was

         19  testified, we received testimony, the budget -- the

         20  Revenue Budget mod, the Expense Budget mod, the

         21  Capital Budget mod, and the amended debt

         22  certificate, which is a message and necessity and

         23  resolution.

         24                 All right, roll call.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Berman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Pinkett.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Pass.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Spigner.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Leffler.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Mr. Chairman,

          9  may I please explain my vote?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Hopefully if it

         11  is brief, by all means, sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I am going to

         13  vote aye on all of the items. I would like to

         14  explain particularly with respect to MN 3.

         15                 With respect to MN 3, I think there

         16  is a serious effect with respect to the procedure by

         17  which you address the police overtime budget and

         18  continue to address it. Operation Condor is only one

         19  aspect of this.

         20                 To some extent, though, I look upon

         21  this as being in the context of a $800 million

         22  modification as to which the overwhelming number of

         23  the items went unchallenged.

         24                 With respect to that item, I believe

         25  that there is inadequate planning, really no
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          2  specific plan presented to us, no case as to why

          3  this can't be done with the unprecedentedly high

          4  police force, why this couldn't be done more with

          5  civilianization. We should at least have the Police

          6  Commissioner explain, we should have a detailed

          7  study, we have asked for it for months.

          8                 My conclusion is that this can be

          9  done better and that the City's residents are going

         10  to be paying for this program, not only in this

         11  overtime, but in inflated pension costs for years

         12  and years to come.

         13                 Nevertheless, I vote for this,

         14  because the nature of the procedural posture of this

         15  is that this is to some extent like the tail on the

         16  dog, it is part of a bigger package, it can only be

         17  addressed effectively in the ongoing give and take

         18  before this ever reaches us.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Please continue.

         21                 Thank you, sir.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Michels.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chairman,

         24  may I be temporarily excused to explain my vote?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Michels.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I also will

          3  vote aye on this budget on the coupled items.

          4                 I want to register again my

          5  frustration and annoyance with the fact that we are

          6  providing for more arrests, more police and at the

          7  same time are not providing for the counsel to

          8  defend the people who will be arrested, and I think

          9  this is a defect in this budget, it may very well

         10  result in people going to court, and having some of

         11  these arrests thrown out on the basis of not having

         12  proper representation, and delay will cause more

         13  people to be back on the street.

         14                 I think it is counterproductive, I

         15  think we have to consider it and we have to really

         16  be forceful in making sure there is proper money

         17  given to Legal Aid to defend the people who will be

         18  arrested and fully represent them. Because there may

         19  be people put in jail who shouldn't be in jail, be

         20  in Rikers who shouldn't be there, and at a time when

         21  we have to be more careful on the civil rights of

         22  people because of what is going on in Washington,

         23  this is the wrong message that is being sent.

         24                 Thank you. I vote aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Dear.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEAR: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Wooten.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Pass.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McCaffrey.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Miller.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Rodriguez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Can I take

         13  a moment to explain my vote, Mr. Chairman?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Rodriguez.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: The last

         16  time we had the people from Finance here I expressed

         17  some concern about the fact that we have in essence

         18  a $600 million budget modification, the way I read

         19  it here, maybe it is a couple of hundred million

         20  dollars off, whatever case it is still a lot of

         21  money, and as Council Member Eldridge was saying and

         22  Council Member Leffler was saying, in essence, we

         23  really don't have oversight.

         24                 And why I say that is because the

         25  Mayor goes in there and puts these things in the
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          2  budget, and he is going to do it whether or not we

          3  say it is okay and I don't think that is the way

          4  that our City was supposed to be being run at this

          5  point. Actually, what I want to say basically is

          6  that it disturbs me that we sit here and we vote on

          7  a budget modification that really doesn't listen to

          8  the needs of our City. We have to vote for this

          9  because they put in here that are important to us,

         10  they put in things for the Board of Education that

         11  we can't vote against, they put things in here that

         12  we can't vote against but then they put in $115

         13  million for the police, and that is stuff really

         14  that when we look at it and we understand what it is

         15  for, Council Member Michels and Council Member

         16  Eldridge were both saying, we did that and we put

         17  the 4115 million there, but we did not address the

         18  needs of the Legal Aid, and it is not just Legal

         19  Aid, it is all people that are getting arrested as a

         20  result of this $115 million of extra overtime.

         21                 So, we look at the budget in this

         22  totality and we say, well, there are some good

         23  things in here, and we look at it and we say there

         24  are some bad things in here, what disturbs me is

         25  that the way and the reason for this budget
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          2  modification to me is clearly to be able to get

          3  around the process of oversight with the Council,

          4  it's clear to me that just there intended so that we

          5  don't get to really look at what is there, and I

          6  don't think that is the way it is meant to be done.

          7  We still have to vote for some of the things in here

          8  because that is the budget, the way it is set up, I

          9  just don't like the way it smells, it doesn't pass

         10  my smell test even though I am going to vote for it.

         11                 I am going to vote aye with a lot of

         12  reservations, because I don't think this is the way

         13  the people of the City of New York want this budget

         14  to be passed.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Since I can't

         17  pass again, I will have to say that I concur with

         18  Council Member Rodriguez, and that I will vote aye

         19  for the very same reason. And I do believe that the

         20  money that is put in there for civilianization is

         21  not enough, because there are more police who could

         22  be put out on the street to do the job for which

         23  they are hired.

         24                 A lot of the overtime is putting down

         25  the barriers, picking up the barriers, which other
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          2  people could do for far less money. Council Member

          3  Leffler is right in terms of how you compute the

          4  budget, in terms of the pension. Everyone knows that

          5  for your pension you get as much overtime as you

          6  possibly can in order to make that last year count,

          7  because your pension is computed on your final year.

          8  It happens every year, not one year, not two year,

          9  everyone does it.

         10                 So, I think in terms of our

         11  oversight, they know it, and it is an accepted

         12  practice and it passes.

         13                 I think we try, we may mean well, but

         14  we are failing in the sense that we do not have the

         15  opportunity to examine this budget, to ask the

         16  questions, to do the right thing and now is the time

         17  to start doing the right thing. And when I said

         18  yesterday, I say again today, citizens want us to do

         19  better, and it is time for us to do better. Even if

         20  we are walking off the scene in December, we still

         21  have to do the right thing. And even if you are

         22  running for another office, you still have to do

         23  better, because the people will remember.

         24                 I vote aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Foster.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Mr. Chairman,

          5  I ask to be temporarily excused to explain my vote?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Robles.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I listened to

          8  my colleagues, and one thing I have always believed,

          9  that each of us are elected and each of us, you

         10  know, account for our actions. Let me just say to

         11  you, and to my colleagues, that this process is not

         12  new to many of us. And many of us, although

         13  sometimes people come in and think that only they

         14  can save the world, many of us have attempted over

         15  the years, I have been here 17 years, I have been on

         16  this Committee for quite some time, and what

         17  disturbs me is that even when we raise issues that

         18  are issues that really are the people that we

         19  represent, the first thing they tell us, that

         20  because they lump it into one budget mod, that if

         21  you don't vote for it, then you are really voting

         22  against, for the most part, all of the things that

         23  we have been champions up through the years. But let

         24  me just say this: Recently, I get up and read a

         25  newspaper where all of a sudden there are schools in
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          2  the City of New York, that there is this private

          3  corporation called Edison and they are going to take

          4  over. And I must tell you that those of us, because

          5  I have one of those schools in my district, are not

          6  proud of the fact that that particular school has

          7  been on the SURR list since 1989, and first it was

          8  district, then Chancellor.

          9                 The problem I have is that, since

         10  that article, I have had five community meetings

         11  with not only elected officials, with school boards,

         12  with parents, and you know what the frustration is?

         13  You know, you got to stop saying to us we are going

         14  to fix it and only we know how to fix it, and there

         15  is no communication or dialogue.

         16                 And, so, at these meetings I reminded

         17  the world that it was the State Legislature that

         18  passed charter schools, and it was the State

         19  Commissioner of Education that orders the school to

         20  be closed, and that, you know, working together we

         21  should -- whether they don't, if they didn't reach

         22  out, then we should go out of our way to bring in

         23  Edison, because I don't even know who they are, what

         24  have they done, what is their track record, and how

         25  are they going to be better than what was before?
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          2                 Well, to this date, and we talk about

          3  pumping money into the Board of Education, and some

          4  of us have come to a conclusion now that we should

          5  eliminate the Board of Education and the Department

          6  of Education, the fact is that I cannot in good

          7  conscience vote for this budget mod. In the 17 years

          8  I have been here, because I am tired of saying

          9  what's wrong, and we all say it, and you know what?

         10  I am prepared to take the consequences and give up

         11  all the goodies just to send a clear message. I will

         12  never forget how I got here, and the people of my

         13  district are upset because people are making

         14  decisions, the Chancellor, and not only this

         15  Chancellor, Chancellors who don't get elected, the

         16  school board members who don't get elected, but when

         17  things go wrong, guess who has to be on the carpet?

         18  Well, you know something? Hello. For the people of

         19  North Brooklyn, and Edison and the school, I cannot.

         20  So, I will vote for everything but MN 3, and that I

         21  believe is what the people of my district sent me

         22  here to do.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Stabile.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Aye on all.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Would you

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  announce the roll call, please.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: By a vote of 14

          4  in the affirmative, none in the negative and no

          5  abstentions, all coupled items are adopted, with the

          6  exception of preconsidered M, MN 3, a vote of 13 in

          7  the affirmative, one in the negative and no

          8  abstentions.

          9                 Please sign the reports.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, ladies

         11  and gentlemen. Sign the reports.

         12                 (The following testimony was read

         13  into the record.)

         14

         15  Written Testimony Of:

         16  Thomas McMahon

         17  New York City Partnership

         18

         19                 Good morning, Chairman Berman and

         20  distinguished members of the City Council Finance

         21  Committee. My name is Thomas L. McMahon, and I am

         22  the Senior Vice President for Government Affairs for

         23  the New York City Partnership and Chamber of

         24  Commerce.

         25                 Before I begin my statement, I wish
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          2  to thank you and the Finance Committee for this

          3  opportunity to testify.

          4                 It is our understanding that this

          5  measure would increase the threshold annual rent at

          6  which the commercial rent tax is imposed,

          7  specifically tenants with annual rents up to

          8  $149,999 would be exempt from the tax and tenants

          9  with annual rents from 4150,000 to $189,000 would

         10  receive a partial credit.

         11                 We applaud the City Council but

         12  respectfully urge consideration of one significant

         13  amendment, a phase out of the entire tax according

         14  to the schedule that the Council has articulated in

         15  the past.

         16                 The New York City Partnership and

         17  Chamber of Commerce has made job-creation in New

         18  York City a top priority. The times appear good. We

         19  have recovered all the jobs that we lost in the

         20  economic recession earlier this decade.

         21                 Job growth is strong. Indeed, private

         22  sector job growth in New York City even exceeds the

         23  national pace from time to time.

         24                 This is no small achievement. It took

         25  a lot of effort on the part of government, business
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          2  and labor. The tax reductions that you and the Mayor

          3  enacted over the last few years helped.

          4                 We have taken the first steps, but

          5  the journey is not over. It is not good enough to

          6  create jobs faster than we did before.  It is not

          7  good enough to create jobs faster than somebody

          8  else.

          9                 The goal has to be to create jobs

         10  fast enough to employ the City's entire working

         11  population. We are not there yet. Although we are

         12  outpaying the nation in job growth, our unemployment

         13  rate hovers about twice as high.

         14                 Ten years ago, if we set as our goal

         15  simply matching the national unemployment rate, we

         16  would have had to create and sustain each year

         17  91,000 more jobs than we actually did.

         18                 This would not have necessarily given

         19  us full employment. It would have just put us in the

         20  same league as the rest of the country. We still

         21  have a way to go before we reach this goal.

         22                 There are a lot of reasons we are

         23  behind. One of them has to be taxes. Despite the

         24  very real and significant progress New York has made

         25  in the last few years, New Yorkers still bear the
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          2  highest combined state and local tax burden in the

          3  country.

          4                 This has to change. I know that you

          5  know this, because you have been changing it. I come

          6  here today to ask you to make one of the most

          7  important and far-sighted changes that can be made:

          8  Full repeal of the commercial rent tax.

          9                 Over the last few years, with the

         10  active leadership of the Council and the Mayor, New

         11  York City has taken a number of steps that

         12  eliminated the commercial rent tax on many

         13  businesses and reduced its burden on others.

         14                 The Partnership and the business

         15  community supported the City's step-by-step approach

         16  to ending this tax.

         17                 We supported the idea of giving tax

         18  relief first to those small businesses that needed

         19  it most. And we looked forward to eliminating the

         20  remnants of the tax, which is still imposed on the

         21  City's largest employers, as soon as possible.

         22                 Now it is time to stop this

         23  incremental approach. We have been talking about CRT

         24  elimination for too long without actually doing it.

         25                 This is a bad tax for New York. It
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          2  has bad consequences. It raises the cost of

          3  property, which is already the highest of any major

          4  American City. Real estate taxes in midtown

          5  Manhattan are three times higher than in New Jersey,

          6  almost four times higher than Houston, and almost

          7  five times higher than Los Angeles.

          8                 Moreover, this tax is unique to New

          9  York City. No other City has it. A company can avoid

         10  the commercial rent tax simply by locating anywhere

         11  else. A large number of businesses continue to pay

         12  between 41 million and $5 million a year just on the

         13  commercial rent tax.

         14                 What does that say about New York?

         15                 We know that you understand these

         16  issues because you and your colleagues have led the

         17  way to finally eliminating this ridiculous tax. We

         18  are asking you now to stand fast and not abandon

         19  this far-sighted policy.

         20                 We have come a long way, and the goal

         21  is in sight.

         22                 We are urging you to enact

         23  legislation this year that would phase-out of the

         24  remainder of the commercial rent tax by 2003. The

         25  timetable is doable.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          3  make our views known to you.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 24th day of January 2001.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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